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INTRODUCTION: RITUAL OF DEMOCRACY


The Emergence of an Expansionist President

PRECISELY AT SUNRISE on the morning of March 4, 1845, the roar of cannon shattered the dawn’s early quiet of Washington, D.C.—twenty-eight big guns fired in rapid succession. Thus did the American military announce to the nation’s capital that it was about to experience the country’s highest ritual of democracy, the inauguration of the nation’s executive leader and premier military commander. James Knox Polk was about to become that leader and commander. On this morning he was ensconced along with his wife, Sarah, at the National Hotel on Pennsylvania Avenue, known popularly as Coleman’s, just ten blocks east of the White House. That night the two of them would be residing at the presidential mansion.

At forty-nine, Polk would be the youngest of the country’s eleven presidents—and, in the view of his many detractors, the most unlikely. Until the previous May of 1844, when he had emerged unexpectedly as the Democratic Party’s presidential nominee, few had imagined the man would ever rise to the presidency. Indeed, just a year earlier his political career had appeared in ruin following his third campaign for Tennessee governor. He had won the office in 1839 but had been expelled two years later by a backwoods upstart known as Lean Jimmy Jones, who had greeted his exacting rhetoric and serious demeanor with lighthearted buffoonery. Trying again in 1843 to outmaneuver this unlikely rival, he once again failed, causing friend and foe alike to dismiss his political prospects.

But those observers hadn’t grasped Polk’s most powerful trait— his absolute conviction that he was a man of destiny. Throughout his political life he had been underestimated by his rivals in the Whig Party and also by some of his own Democratic colleagues. When he had captured his party’s presidential nomination, the country’s leading Whig newspaper sneered in derision. “This nomination,” declared the National Intelligencer, “may be considered as the dying gasp, the last breath of life, of the ‘democratic’ party.” The newspaper said it couldn’t imagine a “less imposing” opponent.

It was true Polk lacked the soaring attributes of the era’s two rival political giants, Andrew Jackson and Henry Clay. He didn’t possess Jackson’s forceful presence or his blunt-spoken way of attracting men instantly to his cause and his side. Nor could he match the lanky Clay’s famous wit, his smooth fluency with the language, his ability to amuse and charm those around him even as he slyly dominated them. By contrast, Polk was small of stature and drab of temperament. Upon his Washington arrival for the inauguration, some of his former colleagues noted he appeared thinner than before, and one wit suggested if he hadn’t had his coats cut a size or two large, “he would be but the merest tangible fraction of a President.”

Polk lacked the skills and traits of the natural leader. His silvery gray hair, in retreat from his forehead but abundant elsewhere, was brushed back across his head and allowed to flow luxuriantly below his collar. His probing blue eyes, deep set under dark brows, reflected a tendency toward quick and rigid judgment. Seldom did his thin lips convey any real mirth or jocularity, and the powerful jaw that jutted from his countenance signaled a narrowness of outlook tied to a persistence of resolve. Polk lacked the easy manner and demeanor that bespoke friendship and camaraderie. He didn’t much like people. What he liked was politics, the art and challenge of moving events in the favored direction, which for Polk meant the direction most favored by Democrats. People thus were a means to an end, figures on a vast civic chessboard of national destiny, to be directed and positioned in such a way as to move the country where he wanted to move it. Though a man of conviction and rectitude, he often allowed himself to become encased in his own sanctimony.

These traits shrouded the real James Polk, whose analytical skills and zest for bold action often placed him in position to outmaneuver his adversaries. He understood the forces welling up within the national polity and how they could be harnessed and dominated. He was a master in the art of crafting an effective political message. And he never allowed himself to be deflected from his chosen path by the enmity of his foes or their dismissive regard toward him or their unremitting opposition.

Besides, he enjoyed the friendship and mentorship of Andrew Jackson, Old Hickory, the country’s most popular figure and its dominant political voice for the past twenty years. Jackson had been a longtime friend of the Polk family, had watched young James grow up, had counseled him on whom to marry and how to manage his career. So now on this momentous morning, as he began his day at Coleman’s and prepared for the events ahead, his inauguration must have seemed the most natural thing in the world even as he knew it struck most others as utterly accidental.

From a window of his suite that morning, Polk could see the prospect of rain reflected in a charcoal sky. Yet the enthusiasm of democracy was running high. For days Washington had teemed with all manner of people thronging there for the festivities—“office seekers and office-expectants, political speculators and party leaders without number, and of every caliber,” as the Intelligencer put it, adding that the crowd also included “strangers of every rank in life, and every variety of personal appearance.” Hotels and boardinghouses were sold out, and some halls and bars spread pallets upon their floors to accommodate wayworn arrivals.

At ten o’clock the cannon roared again as part of a succession of inauguration day salutes, this one signaling the ceremonial procession was to begin forming at the western end of Pennsylvania Avenue for the mile-and-a-half ride up the boulevard to the Capitol. At precisely that time, as if summoned by the cannon, the rain began a steady downbeat. Up went a multitude of umbrellas. A British journalist, surveying the scene from the west end of the avenue, said it looked like “a long line of moving umbrellas, terminating at the Capitol, the dome of which towered up like a gigantic umbrella held aloft by some invisible hand.”

Leading the procession was the inauguration’s chief marshal and his aides, bedecked in silks and ribbons and carrying distinctive batons of officialdom: branches of “young hickory,” alluding to Polk’s nickname as protégé of Old Hickory. The marshals were followed by various local military units as well as leading officers of the day. Then came members of the area’s clergy and behind them the open carriage transporting President-elect Polk and his predecessor, John Tyler of Virginia. Next in line came the justices of the Supreme Court; then the diplomatic corps; members and ex-members of Congress; participants at the Democratic convention in Baltimore that had nominated Polk the previous May over New York’s Martin Van Buren, the former president who had hungered for a White House return; then governors and ex-governors.

A place in the procession had been reserved for ex-presidents, but only one such dignitary was in town that day, and he had declined the honor. That was John Quincy Adams, the New England moralist and political ascetic who had been expelled from the White House by Andrew Jackson sixteen years before. He had salved the wounds of defeat by taking up duties as an outspoken member of the House of Representatives, whence he waged unrelenting war upon Democratic aims. He had greeted Polk’s election with near despair. “I mused over the prospects before me,” he had written, “with the impression that they portend trials more severe than I yet have passed through.”

The many military bands within the procession played lively marches to stir a buoyant mood among the throngs jammed compactly along the avenue. The rain may not have dampened the mood, but it drenched everything else. Military plumes began to droop, the white silk badges of the marshals stuck fast to their soaked black coats, and pretty dresses absorbed water. Meanwhile, in the shelter of the Capitol, the Senate was called to order precisely at eleven o’clock. Like the streets and plazas outside, the galleries and nearby stairwells were filled to overflowing. The chamber bustled with the arrival of special guests—Supreme Court justices, House leaders, the District of Columbia marshal. Polk and his designated vice president, George M. Dallas of Pennsylvania, appeared precisely at eleven-forty amid much interest and bustle on the floor and in the galleries.

The next order of business was the swearing in of George Dallas, then fifty-two. His most distinguishing physical characteristic was a head of thick flowing hair, white as milk, which accentuated his dark eyebrows and a broad face that displayed friendly resolve. Sarah Polk considered him an “elegant man, exceedingly handsome and gentle.” He had served in the U.S. Senate at an early age, then held jobs as Pennsylvania attorney general and U.S. minister to Russia. He was part of a Democratic faction in his state that seemed in perpetual conflict with another faction led by Senator James Buchanan, designated as Polk’s new secretary of state. The issue seemed to be who would control Pennsylvania’s Democratic patronage, and Dallas had expected his vice presidential elevation to settle the question in his favor. “I am resolved that no one shall be taken from Pennsylvania [into the Polk administration] who is notoriously hostile to the Vice-President,” he had written to a friend amid rumors that Buchanan might be tapped for Polk’s cabinet. “If such a choice be made my relations with this administration are at an end.” Such a choice was made, and Dallas promptly cast aside his private threat. But the animosities constituted a political reality that Polk needed to monitor.

At around eleven-forty-five, the Senate’s president pro tempore, Willie P. Mangum of North Carolina, administered the oath of office to Dallas, who then delivered a brief speech marked by appropriate democratic platitudes mixed with appropriate expressions of humility. “The citizen whom it has pleased a people to elevate by their suffrages from the pursuits of private and domestic life,” he intoned, “may best evince his grateful sense of the honor … by devoting his faculties, moral and intellectual, resolutely to their service. This I shall do; yet with a diffidence unavoidable to one conscious that almost every step in his appointed path is to him new and untried.”

History doesn’t record whether, as Dallas droned on, some in the audience perhaps found their minds wandering to thoughts of forthcoming political battles. Many of those assembled were destined to play major roles in those battles. James Polk had studied these men with his hallmark attention to detail and penetration of human traits and foibles. Polk knew his first priority would be keeping his party together, and down on the Senate floor he could see just how difficult that would be. He needed to look no further than to two of the Senate’s most powerful and willful Democrats—Missouri’s Thomas Hart Benton and South Carolina’s George McDuffie—who pressed their convictions with a white-hot intensity that often melted any prospect for measured political behavior. Though both proudly carried the Democratic imprimatur, each reserved for the other a degree of political vitriol seldom directed at members of the opposition Whigs.

McDuffie, a senator since December 1842 and his state’s governor before that, was a protégé and ally of South Carolina’s fiery John C. Calhoun. An oval-faced man with dark, deep-set eyes and a recessive chin, McDuffie represented the extreme states’ rights views that had emerged with South Carolina’s efforts during Jackson’s presidency to “nullify” federal laws distasteful to the state. Andrew Jackson had quashed this rebellion by threatening to hang Calhoun and any other traitors who sought to rend the hallowed union. But the sentiments behind it continued to percolate in some southern precincts, most notably in South Carolina.

Thomas Hart Benton despised those sentiments. He was a man given to flights of outrage that unleashed in turn torrents of outrageous rhetoric. John Tyler called him “the most raving political maniac I ever knew.” Benton was an imposing man with a big face, full of crags, and a beak of a nose. He spoke with authority and an air suggesting he didn’t have much patience for the mutterings of lesser men, a category that seemed to include most of those with whom he came into contact. He fancied himself a fighter, and he had a history of several duels to prove it. As a young man in Tennessee, he became embroiled in an altercation with Andrew Jackson that quickly escalated into an angry gun battle. Benton had been a protégé of Jackson and his aide-de-camp during the War of 1812, but the younger man had become enraged at Jackson’s decision to serve a friend as second at the friend’s duel with Benton’s brother, Jesse. Jesse took a bullet to the buttocks, which proved humiliating, and Thomas Benton blamed Jackson for fostering the duel. The brothers trashed Jackson’s name throughout Nashville with such abandon that the proud Jackson went after the two of them outside a downtown saloon with a riding whip. It ended with multiple wounds for Benton and a bullet-shattered shoulder for Jackson that nearly claimed his life. Concluding Tennessee was now enemy territory, Benton promptly set out for Missouri, where he emerged as its leading politician. When the territory became a state in 1821, it sent Benton to the U.S. Senate, where he nurtured his identity as a man of absolute independence. Though a proud Democrat, he could never be counted on to adhere with any consistency to the party line. He adhered only to the Thomas Hart Benton line.

Benton had awarded his political loyalty to former President Van Buren, and he felt rage toward the Democratic politicians who had maneuvered to deny Van Buren his party’s nomination at the Baltimore convention. Polk studiously had avoided any overt action that could be construed as inimical to Van Buren’s ambitions. Though Benton publicly had accepted Polk’s denials, privately he wasn’t so sure. But about George McDuffie and John C. Calhoun he harbored no doubts. They were the enemy.

The issue was Texas annexation and, just behind it, slavery. Texas had exploded onto the political scene quite unexpectedly when Tyler had negotiated an annexation treaty with this Southwest country that had secured its independence from Mexico through force of arms. It turned out that annexation was hugely popular in the United States, but an instinctive wariness emerged within the political establishment. Many politicians feared war with Mexico, which had never accepted or recognized Texas independence. They feared also an intensification of the slavery issue as the country grappled with the question of whether this vast new territory would be free or slave. Both Van Buren, the presumed Democratic presidential candidate, and Clay, the assured Whig candidate, had declared their opposition to immediate annexation, and both saw their presidential hopes destroyed in the bargain. Polk, attuned to political sentiment and attentive to Jackson’s expansionist instincts, had immediately embraced annexation, and this had helped boost him to the presidency.

Now, with the rain-soaked multitude about to witness Polk’s swearing in, the Texas issue still loomed large over the political landscape, generating acidic animosities within the party and the country. Benton was convinced McDuffie and other anti–Van Buren southerners harbored desires to bring Texas into the Union as a slave state so the expanded slave empire could form its own country. He had railed against “this long-conceived Texas machination … an intrigue for the presidency, and a contrivance to get the Southern States out of the Union.” McDuffie just as adamantly insisted the North harbored secret aims of surrounding, squeezing, and ultimately destroying the slave culture. Asked if South Carolinians would continue to submit to oppression, he had replied, “Before answering that question, I will ask—Are you men—are you South Carolinians … or are you curs—which, when kicked, will howl, and then come back and lick the foot that has inflicted the blow?”

Clearly, bringing these two men under the same political tent would not be easy.

It was nearly noon when the Senate assemblage made its way to the temporary platform constructed over the vast stairways of the Capitol’s east portico. First to emerge, to “cheers of welcome,” were Tyler and Polk, walking side by side but with the president-elect occupying the ceremonial position to the left of the outgoing president. A British journalist in attendance described Polk as “looking well, though thin and anxious in appearance.” Behind them were their wives and behind them various dignitaries. Sarah Polk, though not a true beauty, possessed a magnetism that had served her well as a politician’s wife. Her enveloping warmth was viewed by many family friends as an antidote to her husband’s stiff demeanor. She had a Spanish appearance, with black hair, large dark eyes, olive skin, thin expressive lips, and an oval face. One high-toned Pennsylvanian noted that she “dresses with taste” and called her “a very superior person.” He added, “Time has dealt kindly with her personal charms, and if she is not handsome she is at least very prepossessing and graceful.”

On this day she wore a gown of satin with a neckline that dropped into a V and with stripes of deep red and silvery gray. The waistline was tight and the sleeves long. Over it she wore a sand-colored wool coat with a quilted rose taffeta lining. On her head, protecting her from the rain, was a velvet bonnet the same color as the red of her dress. Clearly she wished to make a statement with her manner of dress on this day. Dallas wrote to his wife that he found her “rather too showy for my taste … [but] I go for the new lady.”

At the appointed time, before the swearing in, Polk stepped forward to deliver his inaugural address “to a large assemblage of umbrellas,” as John Quincy Adams wryly noted in his diary. Standing at the front of the platform, protected from the rain by an umbrella held by a servant, Polk sought to quicken the hearts of Democrats while assuaging fears of Whigs and others. Passing quickly over his own humility in accepting the awesome responsibilities and his resolve to seek divine guidance in discharging those responsibilities, he moved directly to the central tenets of the Jacksonian creed. Warning against federal usurpation of governmental prerogative beyond the limits of the Constitution, he pledged “to assume no powers not expressly granted or clearly implied” in that document. He extolled the executive veto as protection against a capricious or despotic majority. He vowed to fight any threats to the union, thus serving notice that state actions aimed at nullifying federal laws or dissolving the Union would encounter the kind of military resistance Jackson had directed at South Carolina. Polk denounced any kind of federal bank, any national debt, and any tariffs crafted specifically for the protection of particular industries. “The raising of revenue should be the object, and protection the incident,” he declared.

On foreign policy, Polk declared his expansionist vision. He celebrated the recent actions in behalf of Texas annexation and warned against any interference from Mexico or any other continental power. And he served notice that the United States considered its title to the full Oregon Territory to be “clear and unquestionable”—a bold statement given that his country and Britain had occupied those lands jointly for twenty-two years and had pledged mutually to negotiate a disposition of the matter at some point in the future. Just eighty years before, noted Polk, the country’s small population had been confined to the east side of the Alleghenies. Since then, “our people, increasing to many millions, have filled the eastern valley of the Mississippi, adventurously ascended the Missouri to its headsprings, and are already engaged in establishing the blessings of self-government in valleys of which the rivers flow to the Pacific…. To us belongs the duty of protecting [these settlers] adequately wherever they may be upon our soil.”

It was pure Jacksonian rhetoric in both substance and style. Indeed, the first draft had been crafted by Amos Kendall, Jackson’s brilliant word maestro from his own presidential days. But Jackson himself wasn’t there to hear it. In declining health for months, he now was dying. “I thank my god that the Republic is safe & that he had permitted me to live to see it, & rejoice,” Jackson had written the previous fall, upon hearing of Polk’s election. Jackson’s absence was balanced by the absence of his great political rival, Henry Clay, whose defeat in November’s presidential balloting had been his third such subjection. Clay remained at his vast Kentucky estate, Ashland, pondering how it happened that, after years of contending with Old Hickory, he now had to deal with his equally hostile young protégé.

Polk delivered his inaugural remarks, according to Washington’s Daily Globe, “in a voice so firm and distinct, as to be heard by almost every individual present.” But the response from the crowd was more polite than enthusiastic, suggesting perhaps his voice hadn’t carried over the din of rain falling upon umbrellas. In any event, now it was time for the country’s eleventh president to be sworn in, and Chief Justice Roger B. Taney stepped forward. Taney was a Jackson appointee whose robes of impartiality never fully shrouded his Democratic sympathies. “I feel so truly rejoiced at your election as President … ,” he had written Polk in November, “that I must indulge myself in the pleasure of offering my cordial congratulations… . I need not say with what pleasure I shall again meet you in Washington, & see you entering upon the high station to which you have been so honorably called.” Taney held what the Illustrated London News would describe as “a richly gilt Bible,” presented to Sarah Polk by Alexander Hunter, chief marshal of the District of Columbia. At Taney’s prompting, Polk uttered the famous thirty-five words affirming faithfully to execute the presidential office and to “preserve, protect and defend the Constitution of the United States.” Then he was president, and another 28-gun salute roared its affirmation.

The new president and the man he had just replaced left the platform, again side by side. But this time Polk occupied the ceremonial position at Tyler’s right. The official parade formed up once again into what Quincy Adams called a “draggle-tail procession thinned in numbers,” and the president and first lady were escorted back to the White House, where they greeted visitors through much of the afternoon. The evening agenda included two inaugural balls—one at Carusi’s Hall, at ten dollars a ticket; another at the National Theatre at five dollars. Intent on making yet another fashion statement, Sarah ventured forth in a marine blue velvet dress with a cape described by one biographer as “deeply fringed.” Quincy Adams, whose self-exile from the day’s activities didn’t preclude his pouring wry pronouncements into his diary, reported that Polk attended both galas, “but supped with the true-blue five-dollar Democracy.”

The next day Polk assumed the duties of a presidential term that he had promised would be his only claim upon the office. Ahead of him were four tumultuous years of American expansionism that would transform his country and set it upon a new course. But when he relinquished power in March 1849 he would be a spent force, politically and physically. His greatest accomplishments would live on in a vast expanse of territory in the West and Southwest, now part of the United States. But he himself would not last much beyond his hour of eminence. Within four months of leaving office, he would be dead.





1 • YOUNG HICKORY


The Making of a Jackson Protégé

BEGINNING IN SUMMER 1717 there arrived upon American shores a new breed of immigrant from the British Isles, far different from the Puritans, Quakers, and Cavaliers who had already settled in their chosen locales. The new arrivals came from the borderlands of northern England, northern Ireland, and the Scottish Highlands, and they emerged in undulating waves that deposited a quarter-million souls in the New World over nearly sixty years. The borderland migrants were a rustic folk, largely Presbyterian in religious provenance. The men were lanky and fit, with faces leathered through outdoor toil. They displayed distinctive habits of dress—hats made of felt, loose-fitting shirts made of sackcloth, wood shoes. The young women displayed a frolicsome sensuousness that seemed shocking to many of the earlier arrivals. They wore tight-fitting dresses with short skirts. Men and women alike showed a notable casualness and openness toward sex and nudity, and social sanctions against wayward personal behavior were mild compared to those of earlier migrants. The menfolk displayed a liberal attitude toward spirituous liquors and a fighting spirit more intense than their work ethic. There was a strain of cultural conservatism among these people; they were strongly attached to their ancestral ways.

The borderland migrants arrived not seeking religious freedom, as their predecessors had done, but rather to escape economic travail. Hence they came largely from a lower socioeconomic station than the folks who had settled earlier in Massachusetts, Delaware, and Virginia. The vast majority were small farmers, farm laborers, and mechanics. But they displayed a defiant pride that would have far-reaching political impact in the New World, particularly in the lush western regions beyond the Alleghenies that would become their favored frontier destination. As one historian would later put it, “Extreme inequalities of material condition were joined to an intense concern for equality of esteem.” They demanded respect, often with a social insolence that surprised and irritated those who considered themselves of higher rank. Ultimately this trait would manifest itself in a powerful strain of political populism—a suspicion of entrenched elites, hostility toward wealth and power, a conviction that the new American democracy should be guided by the virtue and wisdom of ordinary folk. This was the heritage, outlook, and politics of Andrew Jackson—and also of his protégé, James K. Polk, twenty-eight years younger than his mentor.

The two men shared also a similar family consciousness. While the vast majority of borderland migrant families were poor and always had been poor, about one to 2 percent came from the landed gentry of Britain’s borderlands. They migrated to America not to better their station but to retain it, and they remained intensely conscious of their family heritage. However impoverished they may have become in the course of their journey to America or during their struggles once they got there, they never lost their sense that they came from exalted levels of society. Jackson’s mother taught him from earliest childhood to think of himself as a gentleman, and she taught him that his Scots-Irish grandfather had been a well-to-do linen weaver and merchant and his father a comfortable farmer with substantial acreage in the old country. And Polk proudly traced his lineage back eight centuries to a Saxon nobleman named Undwin and to Undwin’s descendants who held sway over vast estates and political decision-making throughout their long Scottish ascendancy.

To Polk all this was vastly more significant than his inauspicious birth in a one-room log cabin at a time of economic transition for his family. The first of ten children, he was born November 2, 1795, in Mecklenburg County, North Carolina, to Samuel and Jane Knox Polk. His mother, a rigid Presbyterian of sharp intellect and strong character, came from an established North Carolina family. James’s father, four generations removed from the family’s New World founder, Robert Bruce Polk (or Pollock, as the family had been known up to that time), was a sturdy farmer of simple virtues whose robust drive for advancement overcame a rather limited imagination. When young James was eleven, the family set out on the arduous five-hundred-mile journey to the Duck River region of Tennessee territory, between the Smoky Mountains and the Mississippi River. Beleaguered and angry Indians posed mortal dangers that stirred the combative juices of these borderland settlers, whose fighting spirit was rendered all the more intense by the richness of the prize they sought. The region’s fertile soil promised abundant wealth for those who survived, and the path of betterment was well established in the country’s frontier out-lands: venture forth to a thinly populated area and accumulate large expanses of cheap or free land; develop as much acreage as possible for farming; when land prices rise with the arrival of subsequent pioneers, sell undeveloped lands at elevated prices; use the profit to further develop the retained acreage and perhaps venture also into the law or commercial enterprises.

Sam Polk’s father and uncle had pursued this formula successfully in North Carolina. Then, early in the new century, they had leveraged it further in the West by selling high-priced North Carolina land and purchasing much larger tracts of low-cost Tennessee acreage. They settled in what would become Maury County, south of Nashville, and founded James Polk’s lifelong hometown, Columbia. Hence when Sam Polk followed them there in 1806, the way was paved for him to prosper quickly if he was willing to invest long days of toil and plenty of sweat. Sam’s father, Ezekiel, not only accumulated a thousand acres of rich-soil land but also fathered fourteen children, who in turn produced for him ninety-two grandchildren and 307 great-grandchildren.

One of Ezekiel’s grandchildren, of course, was young James, but he would give the old man no great-grandchildren. Most likely this resulted from a medical development in his young life that must have had a searing impact on the lad’s consciousness. He was a bright and studious boy with an early zest for learning. But he was weak and sickly, unable to do even modest physical chores without wilting under the strain. The boy’s father got him apprenticed to a local merchant so he could pursue a trade that wouldn’t tax his physical strength. James hated the mercantile life and even more so the termination of his formal schooling. Then when he was seventeen the doctors finally diagnosed his ailment—urinary stones, which were slowly sapping his health. The only solution was surgery, a highly risky and painful procedure in those days before modern anesthetics.

Sam Polk bundled up the lad in the back of his wagon and took him to Danville, Kentucky, residence of an acclaimed medical pioneer named Ephraim McDowell. The doctor performed a surgery that can only be described as a necessary barbarity. With brandy his only sedative, young James was placed on his back with his legs secured by straps high in the air. With a knife the doctor cut into the perineum, through what would become known as the pelvic floor. He then used a pointed instrument called a gorget to cut through the prostate and into the bladder. A scoop or forceps was used to remove the stones. However hellish, it was a medical success. But, knowing what we know now about the nerves that line the prostate and control much of the sexual function, it would seem likely the operation left the young man impotent or sterile, perhaps both.

In any event, following his recovery he resumed his formal schooling with enthusiasm. At a small Presbyterian academy near Columbia, he proved “diligent in his studies, and his moral conduct was unexceptional & exemplary,” according to a recommendation submitted later by the school. During subsequent studies at the Murfreesboro Academy, he displayed what a school document called “literary merit and moral worth.” He was admitted to the University of North Carolina as a sophomore and was graduated three years later with first honors in both mathematics and classics. At the university he developed a personal outlook and pattern of behavior that would guide him through life: He never considered himself brilliant, and he knew he lacked the outsized personal characteristics that propelled some others through life with apparent ease. Yet he discovered that he had a highly functional mind, and if he applied himself with diligence and avoided diversions, he could excel beyond his peers. He acquired a seriousness of purpose and intensity of ambition that would become hallmark traits. They complemented the physical appearance that settled upon him in adulthood. Just above medium height, he was not at first glance an imposing figure. But he conveyed a pleasant countenance marked by his strong oval face and prominent chin. He carried himself with a dignity and self-confidence that led many to see him eventually as a man of mark.

Upon graduating, he studied law under Felix Grundy, the state’s most acclaimed lawyer and a former member of Congress. Taking a shine to the earnest young man, Grundy offered social connections and personal guidance as well as legal training. Within two years Polk was admitted to the bar, and with Grundy’s help and his own family’s prominence he didn’t have any trouble acquiring clients. Soon his practice was sufficiently lucrative so he could branch out as clerk of the state Senate at Murfreesboro. It was at this time, in 1819, that he met Sarah Childress, then sixteen. At a high-toned reception to honor a prominent Tennessean named William Carroll (later governor), he saw young Sarah’s reflection in a large mirror. “She’s beautiful,” he thought and began making his way through the crowded room to where she had been talking with General Jackson, a longtime family friend of the Childresses as well as the Polks. By the time he got there she was gone. But then he saw her talking with Anderson Childress, a classmate from his Murfreesboro Academy days. It turned out the young woman was Childress’s sister—the same person Polk had met years earlier when she was a young girl. Anderson asked Sarah if she remembered James from their encounters years earlier.

“Why, of course I do,” replied the self-possessed young lady.

Anderson later offered James a ride home in the family carriage, and the two got to know each other better.

But the young man was slow to pursue her as a marriage companion—until Jackson slyly intervened. When Polk sought the General’s counsel on how he might pursue his political ambitions, Jackson said he should take a wife and become an established member of society. Polk asked if Jackson had anyone in mind.

“The one who will never give you trouble,” his mentor replied. “Her wealthy family, education, health, and appearance are all superior. You know her well.”

“You mean Sarah Childress?” asked Polk. Then, “I shall go at once and ask her.”

They were married on the evening of January 1, 1824. By then the intensely ambitious Polk had been elected to the state legislature and was eyeing a run for Congress the following year. He also had joined the Tennessee militia, in which he eventually would rise to the rank of colonel.

With Jackson’s endorsement he won the congressional seat in August 1825 and headed to Washington the following December. In reaching the capital, he entered into a political crucible defined largely by the political rivalry and personal animosity between two men—Andrew Jackson and Henry Clay. It isn’t possible to understand Polk’s emergence without understanding its political context. And nothing illuminates that context more clearly than the awesome tensions, political and personal, between the men known throughout the nation by their colloquial nicknames Old Hickory and Prince Hal—arguably the two greatest political figures to emerge in the second generation era of American politics.

There were similarities between the two. Born in the Southeast’s Piedmont region, both sought opportunity across the Alleghenies in the boisterous western lands of Tennessee and Kentucky. Both gravitated to the law and gained early prominence in civic affairs—Jackson as judge and military officer, Clay as politician and diplomat. Both hungered for national fame and influence. Both married into prominent frontier families. And both harbored profound feelings of patriotism and viewed themselves as protectors of the Founders’ civic legacy and dream of American greatness.

Beyond such similarities the two men could not have been more different. While Clay was playful in conversation, Jackson was stolid and upright. While Clay viewed politics as a game of intrigue in which the pursuit of victory was nearly as sweet as victory itself, Jackson considered politics a deadly serious business involving unbending principle. While Clay easily could forgive the most cutting rhetoric directed against him and expected the same from his adversaries, Jackson never forgot a slight he considered gratuitous. Clay moved with ease through any crowd or situation and brought forth an audacious eloquence based on his mastery of the language in all of its richness, range, and nuance. Jackson’s eloquence was of a different cast—blunt, no-nonsense, unadorned language aimed directly at ordinary folk and betraying a depth of conviction and passion that moved people with its simplicity and common wisdom. Clay loved the legislative game that called forth his eloquence, wiles, and mastery of issues and people. Jackson hated the ceaseless debates and self-important maneuvering that characterized Congress.

But it was the variance in their political views that framed the pivotal debates of their era. Clay wanted the power of federal Washington brought to bear boldly in behalf of domestic prosperity. Almost single-handedly he crafted a philosophy of governmental activism and devised a collection of federal programs and policies he considered essential to American prosperity. He called it the American System, and it would become the bedrock of his Whig Party. Jackson abhorred the very thought of concentrated power in Washington, which he believed would lead inevitably to corruption and invidious governmental actions favoring the connected and powerful at the expense of ordinary citizens. He wanted political power to remain diffuse and as close to the people as possible. These two outlooks, personified by these two men, would drive political events surrounding nearly all the major issues of their day: protective tariffs, the Bank of the United States, public works, public lands—and, ultimately, American expansion into Texas, Oregon, New Mexico, and California.

JACKSON’S life and legend would serve as inspiration for James Polk throughout his life. Born 1767 in the Waxhaw region of the Carolinas, Jackson grew up in deprivation. His father had died before his birth, and his mother moved with her three boys into the plantation home of her sister and brother-in-law, the Crawfords, who had eight children of their own. With his mother busy earning her keep through household devotions and the Crawfords focused on their own offspring, the skinny lad quickly learned self-reliance. He developed an independent, pugnacious demeanor, always ready to fight for his interests and never willing to surrender even when bigger boys beat him up. He had almost no formal schooling, and his lack of mastery over spelling and grammar would become something of an identity scar in later life, ridiculed by political opponents frustrated by his tendency to rise in society despite these limitations. Young Jackson grew up quickly during the Revolution, when the Carolinas were ravaged by the British force known as Tarleton’s Raiders. Judged too young to carry a rifle, the thirteen-year-old served as courier and scout. At one point, caught in a firefight, young Jackson witnessed a cousin killed at his side. Later he became a prisoner of war. When a British officer ordered the young rebel to polish the officer’s boots, Jackson defiantly refused—and almost lost his life when the enraged officer brought down a sword upon his head. Jackson managed to deflect the blow but gashes on his hand and head left lifelong scars only slightly more apparent than his lifelong hatred of the English.

During these travails, the boy lost his two brothers to war and his mother to cholera. After Independence, orphaned and alone at seventeen, Jackson apprenticed in the law at Salisbury, North Carolina, and developed a reputation as a wild young man who drank, gambled, and roistered. But his commanding presence slowly gained dominance over his wilder tendencies. Tall, well proportioned, and always well dressed, he carried himself in polite society with dignity and courtliness. The intense gaze of his welkin blue eyes suggested an immense self-regard. One young woman of the area wrote that he possessed “a kind of majesty I never saw in any other young man.”

At twenty-one, in search of financial betterment, he left North Carolina for the fledgling outpost of Nashville, in what would become Tennessee. He practiced law, acquired property, became a merchant of eastern goods, married a young divorcée named Rachel Robards, and took up with the territorial militia.*He became Tennessee’s first congressman in 1796 and later served a one-session stint as U.S. senator. But he thrived particularly in the militia. Frontier citizens could accept a certain lassitude in their prosecutors, judges, and politicians, but not in their elected military leaders. Those were times when the area lost a man, woman, or child to Indian attack every ten days or so, and the tenuous existence of pioneer whites necessitated the highest degree of competence in their military commanders. Jackson possessed the desired attributes—quickness of mind, boldness of action, an ability to gain sway over other men, a deep sense of rectitude. And his occasional impetuousness and flashes of temper only added to his commanding mystique. In 1802, at thirty-five, he was elected major general of the Tennessee militia.

There followed a number of years when his military exploits and personal proclivity for roustabout conduct seemed in conflict. His reputation as a man out of control lingered as a result of a number of duels, that notorious gunfight with Thomas Hart Benton and his brother, and a tendency toward hotheaded reactions to presumed slights and insults. And yet, with the outbreak of the War of 1812, as major general of the United States Volunteers and later in the Regular Army, he ran up a string of military victories against the Creek Indians and the British that brought him national attention and widespread adulation. Displaying a toughness that stirred his troops to identify him with the hardness of hickory, he acquired his famous nickname. A noted example was the day he put down a mutiny of disgruntled troops by ordering artillery guns to be pointed at the troops as he confronted them. He then demanded that the mutineers return to their posts or he would order the guns to be fired, destroying them and himself in one barrage. The action stunned the wayward soldiers into subjection. Bringing his troops back into line, he destroyed elements of the Creek Indian tribe bent on terrorizing settlers in Mississippi. And he devastated a British army seeking to seize New Orleans and its strategic dominance over the Mississippi River Valley. The British reported 2,037 dead, wounded, and missing on that fateful January day in 1815, while Jackson’s troops suffered only thirteen killed. Instantly he became a national hero and potential presidential contender. Subsequent military exploits against the Seminole Indians and a stint as governor of Florida Territory bolstered his countrywide standing. And yet he invited detractors with displays of defiance and a tendency to substitute his own judgment for those of his superiors. Most often he was right on the merits, but these traits provided an opening for critics to suggest he couldn’t be trusted with power. By the 1820s, Jackson was probably the country’s most revered figure, but also one of its most controversial.

A DECADE YOUNGER than Jackson, Clay soared to national prominence at a younger age. Born in 1777 into a comfortable Virginia family of yeoman farmers, he was one of eight siblings, four of whom died in infancy. His father, a planter and rousing Baptist minister, died when Henry was four. His mother remarried a plantation owner and militia captain named Henry Watkins. Aside from witnessing the ransacking of his home by Tarleton’s Raiders shortly after his father’s death, the boy grew up in comfort amid trappings of culture and learning. He didn’t apply himself much to the meager formal education then available in rural Virginia. As he later explained with characteristic self-absorption, “I always relied too much upon the resources of my genius.” Indeed, it was clear to all who knew the strapping youngster that he possessed special qualities of intellect and spirit. At sixteen, he became secretary to George Wythe, one of the state’s top jurists, who gave the lad a sterling education in the law and civic affairs as well as entrée to the highest Richmond society. Four years with Wythe and another with Richmond lawyer Robert Brooke provided young Clay with enough background to pass his bar examination. He then set out for Kentucky, where his mother and stepfather had gone some years before.

He settled in Lexington, connected with other Wythe protégés, established a law practice, married, and prospered. He became known as brilliant, industrious, and dependable, and the town’s residents soon were exchanging stories about this exciting young man who seemed always ready with an amusing quip or flight of eloquence on some intriguing topic. He was not without character flaws. His wit sometimes veered into the outrageous, and he displayed a weakness for gambling, dueling, and indulgence with women. He also harbored a certain intellectual arrogance, manifest in a biting invective directed at those he considered less brainy than himself. Bored by a loquacious man who suggested he spoke for posterity, Clay interjected, “Yes, and you seem resolved to speak until the arrival of your audience.”

Gravitating inevitably to politics, he served a number of terms in the Kentucky legislature and twice was elected to fill vacancies in the U.S. Senate before settling on a House career in 1810, at age thirty-three. Such was the young westerner’s reputation as a legislator that his colleagues promptly elected him speaker upon his House arrival. He thrived in the role and distinguished himself further when President James Madison sent him to Europe to help negotiate the Treaty of Ghent ending the War of 1812. There he encountered John Quincy Adams, who didn’t much care for Clay’s inveterate dissipations. An early riser, Adams became increasingly disgusted to see, at the start of his day, Clay heading off to bed after a night of drinking and card-playing. When his diplomatic mission ended, he returned to the House and his old job as speaker. In that role he brought off one of the most difficult and commendable legislative feats of his generation—the Missouri Compromise bills of 1820–1821, which sought to maintain a delicate balance of political power between slave and free states and thus prevent the slavery issue from sundering the Union. Immediately Clay was hailed as the Great Compromiser, the “savior of his country.” His national standing was unrivaled by any other American save Andrew Jackson.

Despite his brilliance, Clay displayed a tendency to misread political forces and trends and thus tread into unnecessary thickets. An early example occurred after President James Monroe recalled Andrew Jackson to military service in 1817 to subdue a wave of Seminole Indian attacks against frontier Americans. Jackson’s orders allowed him to pursue the Seminoles to their protected enclaves in Spanish Florida and to clean up operations there. Jackson invaded Florida, crushed the desultory Spanish defenses, burned Seminole villages at will, and created an international incident by hanging two British subjects convicted in a military court of assisting the Seminoles in their murderous raids. Most Americans rejoiced, but some expressed shock. Juices of indignation flowed in Congress, and a censure measure emerged in the House.

On January 20, 1819, Speaker Clay rose to address the matter, and everyone knew he would not be kind. The galleries were so packed that one witness wondered if they could hold up under the weight. “Even the outer entries were thronged,” he added, “and yet such silence prevailed that tho’ at a considerable distance I did not lose a word.” At times harsh, witty, admonitory, outraged, outrageous, amusing, and devastating, Clay spoke for two hours and never lost his audience. “Beware,” he warned, “how you give a fatal sanction … to military insubordination. Remember that Greece had her Alexander, Rome her Caesar, England her Cromwell, France her Bonaparte, and, that if we would escape the rock on which they split, we must avoid their errors.” Many in the galleries gasped, for he had just called Jackson a likely tyrant. He immediately disavowed any intent to assault Jackson’s character, but such disclaimers couldn’t wash away the force of his earlier words, and Jackson now was Clay’s lifelong enemy. It was a major political blunder, as Quincy Adams quickly perceived. “His opposition to Jackson,” wrote Adams, “is now involuntary, and mere counteractive.” Jackson could hate with a vengeance, and now he would never pass by an opportunity to cut down his rival.

POLK’S WASHINGTON ARRIVAL in 1825 followed a powerful political development that would mark the beginning of Jackson’s political ascendancy and ensure the frustration of Clay’s lifelong presidential ambition. Some months before, on February 17, word spread through official Washington that President-elect John Quincy Adams had offered the job of secretary of state to Clay. And Clay had accepted. This was big news. As House speaker, Kentucky’s consummate dealmaker had engineered Adams’s rise to the presidency after the 1824 election had failed to produce a majority winner and the presidential contest had fallen to the House. Clay had even rebuffed the clear political sentiment of his own state to give Kentucky’s House delegation to Adams rather than Jackson. Everyone knew that four of the country’s six presidents had reached the White House from the job of secretary of state. Thus, to all appearances, the presidency—indeed, American democracy itself—had been bartered in a backroom deal closed off to the scrutiny and reach of the nation’s voters.

Over at Gadsby’s Tavern near the Capitol, where Jackson had taken up residence the previous December 7, the Old General received the news from an agitated supporter named Richard M. Johnson. The General exploded into one of his famous fits of rage. “So you see,” he scribbled onto a letter to his loyal friend William B. Lewis, “the Judas of the West has closed the contract and will receive the thirty pieces of silver… . Was there ever witnessed such a bare faced corruption in any country before?” In Jackson’s view, Clay’s acceptance confirmed Washington rumors of a “corrupt bargain.” He wrote: “When we behold two men political enemies, and as different in political sentiment as any men can be, so suddenly unite, there must be some unseen cause to produce this political phenomenon.” His reaction, he told Lewis, was to “shudder for the liberty of my country.”

Four men had vied for the presidency in 1824—Adams, Clay, Jackson, and former Georgia senator and cabinet secretary William H. Crawford. Jackson had received 154,000 votes to Adams’s 109,000, while Clay and Crawford each had around 47,000. But in the Electoral College, Clay had come in fourth with 37 electoral votes, to 99 for Jackson, 84 for Adams, and 41 for Crawford. Under the Constitution, since no one had received an electoral majority, the House would choose the president from among the top three finishers. Clay was out, but he could still play kingmaker. “I cannot believe,” he had written, referring to Jackson’s most famous military victory, “that killing 2,500 Englishmen at New Orleans qualifies for the various, difficult and complicated duties of the Chief Magistracy.” He considered Jackson a mere “military chieftain,” unfit for the presidency. So his resolve to thwart Jackson and elevate Adams was natural enough.

But accepting the job at State was something else entirely. Clay knew it would look bad, but he wanted the position, and the one it could lead to, with an almost desperate ambition. Besides, his arrogant confidence in his own political skills convinced him that he could handle any political difficulties that might arise from his decision. So he accepted the offer—and ensured the ascendancy of the one man whose political career he most wished to thwart. Jackson now held an almost unimaginable opportunity to drive out this rival administration at the next election. Employing rhetoric that included words such as “cheating,” “corruption,” and “bribery,” he set out on a four-year campaign to destroy the Adams presidency and, with it, the Clay ascendancy.

INTO THIS POLITICAL maelstrom stepped young James Polk, just thirty when he began his congressional career bent on lending his vote and voice to the furtherance of the Jackson career. In March 1826 he delivered his maiden floor speech favoring a constitutional amendment to ensure that presidents were elected by direct popular vote—and never by the House. With a certain youthful sophistry, he quoted selectively from the Constitution’s preamble, the Federalist Papers, and various politicians to demonstrate that the Framers clearly intended presidential elections to be decided by the people at large. This was entirely false, but Jackson duly offered praise from his estate outside Nashville, known as the Hermitage.

“Your speech … I have read with much pleasure,” wrote the General, “and I can assure you is well received by all your constituents, and gives you a strong claim to their future confidence.” Later, when Polk sent his mentor a long letter filled with inside Washington intelligence, the General responded warmly: “I feel greatly obliged to you for the information … and I duly appreciate those feelings of friendship which dictated the communication.”

In 1827, Polk won reelection in what was now a safe district. The same year the Democrats took control of the House and promptly replaced the pro-Adams speaker with a loyal Jacksonian, Andrew Stevenson of Virginia. “It was a great triumph,” an elated Polk wrote a friend. Returning to Washington for the next session of Congress, Polk took with him the twenty-three-year-old Sarah, who had remained in Columbia, much to her dismay, during Polk’s first-term trips to the federal capital. The young congressman’s wife quickly emerged as his conspicuous helpmate, handling his correspondence and dealing with boarding matters at the couple’s house on Pennsylvania Avenue. When Polk gave a speech on the House floor, Sarah often could be seen watching from the gallery. It was clear to friends and acquaintances that Polk was much enamored of his young wife. In one letter to a friend he extolled her stamina and good cheer during their stagecoach travels. She seldom needed to stop for rests, he said, and complained about the arduous trips far less than he did himself.

The Polks’ return to Washington coincided with growing optimism among Democrats about Jackson’s presidential prospects the next year. Already his forces were working furiously to position their man for victory, and the effort gave Polk further opportunity to attach his career to that of his mentor. He enlisted in the Nashville Central Committee, a pro-Jackson operation set up to parry any campaign allegations against the General. And there would be many, including murder, adultery, dueling, gambling, drinking, cockfighting, and swearing. Clay, mastermind of Adams’s reelection campaign, knew Jackson’s defeat required that his heroic image be shredded, and he set out to do that by dredging up for attack every indiscretion or misstep in his long career. Many of the allegations were spurious. One particularly vicious handbill alleged that Jackson’s execution of six militiamen for desertion during the Creek War was actually murder as they merely had wanted to depart the military at the close of their enlistments. Polk helped gather evidence showing their crimes actually had included mutiny as well as desertion.

Meeting with Jackson and his allies in the summer of 1828, Polk discussed whether the General should defend himself publicly against the multiple allegations. Polk favored a dignified public address. But later he thought better of it and sent Jackson a letter saying so. “Treat every thing that has or may be said,” he suggested, “with silent contempt.” Jackson appreciated the counsel so much that he wrote upon the page, “My friend Col Polk’s letter to be kept as a token of his real friendship.” Replying to his protégé, he wrote, “I receive my Dr. Sir, your letter as the highest evidence of your sincere friendship, & as such have treasured it up.”

The campaign unfolded amidst a subtle transformation in presidential politics that translated into opportunity. Through the nation’s early decades, presidential elections had been in the hands of state legislators and other local men of prominence, who selected the electors who in turn selected the president. The idea was that the people themselves would not be directly involved in the process and would defer instead to the elites. Property restrictions also served to curtail voter involvement and hence voter interest in presidential elections. But, responding to a wave of populism emerging in the West, more and more states were choosing electors by popular vote and eliminating property requirements. The result was the emergence of a mass electorate, and any candidate who could reach these new voters could blow away the opposition. Jackson understood this; Adams and Clay missed it.

Jackson also understood that his central allegation of the campaign—the so-called corrupt bargain between Adams and Clay—was just the kind of message that would resonate with this new broad electorate. He would exploit this to the hilt, notwithstanding the lack of evidence that any quid pro quo deal had ever been struck. Besides, President Adams was embracing most of the major elements of Clay’s American System—protective tariffs, federal internal improvements such as roads, bridges, and canals, even a bold concept to create a national university. Jackson opposed all this, and he was sure the expanded electorate would oppose it too. Thus, a new political alignment was emerging. On one side were Adams and Clay representing the Republicans’ old Madisonian wing, which favored positive national legislation to promote economic development. Aligning with them were the remnants of the declining Federalists led by the impassioned and golden-voiced senator from Massachusetts, Daniel Webster. The other side included Jackson, Georgia’s William Crawford, and Missouri’s Thomas Benton, now a committed Jacksonian despite the earlier unpleasantness in Nashville. These men led a faction that opposed greater concentrations of federal power for any purpose. They also felt disturbed by Adams’s earnest agitations against slavery and, as national expansionists, faulted the administration for not moving more aggressively to secure western territory for settlement by dealing with Indian land titles there.

It turned into an intense and nasty campaign before it ended with a sweeping Jackson victory in November 1828. Jackson carried 56 percent of the popular vote to Adams’s 43.6 percent; he also carried 178 electoral votes to Adams’s 83. What’s more, Jackson’s Democrats swept both houses of Congress by significant margins. Adams, foreseeing the calamity, had slipped into a depression at the thought of a man such as himself, so admired and respected by czars, prime ministers, and brilliant intellectuals, being so unceremoniously discarded by his own countrymen at the hands of a political ruffian. All he could do, he concluded, was “await my allotted time. My own career is closed.” Clay missed the coming wave. “I yet think that Mr. Adams will be reelected,” he told Webster as the vote totals made their way to Washington. His campaign rhetoric betrayed his misplaced optimism. “I would humbly prostrate myself before Him, and implore his mercy, to visit our land with war, with pestilence, with famine, with any scourge other than this military rule or a blind and heedless enthusiasm for mere military renown.” Such words only enraged Jackson all the more—and underscored a political casualness toward the country’s well-being that Jackson found scandalous.

Returning to his Ashland estate in Lexington for an extended respite from affairs of state, Clay refused to see Jackson’s victory as a repudiation of his American System but rather as an accident of history that would be reversed as soon as the people perceived Jackson’s political incompetence. “We must but passively await the inevitable fragmentation of Jackson’s alliance,” he wrote a friend. But soon it became apparent that Jackson was far more formidable than his opponents had anticipated. And within three years Clay’s congressional friends were begging him to return to the fray. “Everything valuable in the government is to be fought for,” wrote Webster to Clay, “and we need your arm in the fight.” Indeed, the congressional opposition had sought to thwart Jackson at every turn but usually ended up outmaneuvered. When Jackson nominated a New Hampshire editor named Isaac Hill for a minor position in his administration, the Senate blithely rejected the man. The president quickly moved to get New Hampshire Democrats to redress this wrong by electing Hill to the very senatorial body that had repudiated him. When Jackson sought to get New York’s Martin Van Buren, emerging as a presidential favorite, confirmed as minister to London, again the Senate turned thumbs-down. This time the Old General simply tagged Van Buren, now a subject of great sympathy among Democrats, to be vice president in his second administration. “You have broken a Minister and made a Vice-President,” Thomas Benton sneered at one disgruntled Van Buren opponent.

Throughout the forthcoming political struggles unleashed by Jackson’s bold brand of politics, Polk would be well positioned to help his mentor—and reap plenty of benefit in the process. Jackson long had demonstrated shrewdness in finding bright and effective men who would rally to his cause. Now as president he needed many such followers, and he could not find a better man than Polk to serve his interests in the House. Though hardly eloquent, Polk’s rhetoric cut through to the nub of important matters and showed a precision of logic that gave force to his arguments. As one admiring newspaper would later put it, “His preference for the useful and substantial … has made him select a style of elocution which would, perhaps, be deemed too plain by the shallow admirers of flashy declamation. The worst of all styles is the florid and exaggerated!” Besides, no one would demonstrate greater discipline or put in longer hours. Few could match Polk’s analytical skill in assessing the meaning of political events. And he was utterly loyal. Not only did he share Jackson’s broad political philosophy, bequeathed through their shared family and ethnic heritage, but he would avidly embrace any tasks placed before him. Thus, as the struggle between Jackson and Clay intensified to an ever greater pitch of emotion and risk, young Polk would find himself with ever greater political tasks.



2 • TENNESSEE AND WASHINGTON


The Rise and Fall of a Presidential Loyalist

ON MAY 27, 1830, President Jackson shocked official Washington by stamping his veto upon a piece of legislation that most politicians had considered routine. It was a measure to extend the so-called National Road from Maysville to Lexington, Kentucky. The National Road project had begun back in 1811 in Cumberland, Maryland, and extended west in stages over the succeeding years. It was just the kind of public works that fit neatly under Clay’s American System. But Jackson had always opposed the idea of Congress appropriating federal money for local projects. Now, as president, he knew his veto would generate anger among westerners even within his own party. But he sent it up anyway, along with an extensive rationale aimed not at legislators but at voters. The people, he said, had a right to expect a “prudent system of expenditure” that would allow the government to “pay the debts of the union and authorize the reduction of every tax to as low a point as … our national safety and independence will allow.” Once the national debt left over from the War of 1812 was repaid, he promised, the government would make surplus resources available to the states for internal improvements. But direct expenditures for projects that went beyond purposes of defense and national benefit struck Jackson as constitutionally suspect.

Characteristically, the president feared that such power in the hands of federal officials would lead inevitably to “a corrupting influence upon the elections” by giving people a sense that their votes could purchase beneficial governmental actions to “make navigable their neighboring creek or river, bring commerce to their doors, and increase the value of their property.” This, he said in a series of “notes” on the issue, would prove “fatal to just legislation” and the “purity of public men.”

This was all too much for Henry Clay. Following events from his Ashland estate near Lexington, Prince Hal promptly heeded Webster’s call and got himself elected to the Senate in November 1831. He would take the reins of leadership in the struggle to thwart and destroy this dangerous administration. From that moment, Clay would be, as historian Claude G. Bowers put it, “the brilliant, resourceful, bitter, and unscrupulous leader of the Opposition.”

Young James Polk, emerging by now as a skilled legislator, was thrilled to be in the thick of these fights. A publication known as the Democratic Review identified him as one of the administration’s leading supporters “and at times, and on certain questions of paramount importance, its chief reliance.” Polk also enjoyed having Sarah with him during the congressional sessions. The couple settled into a pleasant routine during their Washington stays. Each session they would join a small group of other couples who lived together, according to the custom of the day, in a boardinghouse, with private apartments upstairs and a common dining room and parlor downstairs. Among their early housemates were Tennessee senator Hugh Lawson White, Maine congressman Leonard Jarvis, and South Carolina’s John C. Calhoun. Sarah enjoyed the capital’s social scene and developed friendships with the wives of numerous major players in Congress and the president’s cabinet. She acquired a reputation as a lively conversationalist who nevertheless avoided expressions that could raise questions of any kind of impropriety. She eschewed any hint of gossip or mirth at the expense of others, in part because it was against her nature but also because the priggish James considered such conversational habits to be particularly discreditable. If, in her social exuberance, she slipped into a hasty observation that nobody else would question, James nevertheless might direct toward her a particular smile that she came to interpret as a gentle hint that she may be close to the line. Later he might say, “Sarah, I wish you would not say that. I understand you, but others might not, and a wrong impression might be made.” For her part, she felt such nudges reflected his essential gentleness. “That was the strongest rebuke he ever gave me,” she once said. “When persons speak of my strict ideas of propriety, I think of my husband’s circumspection, and reply, ‘You were not brought up in so strict a school as I was.’”

But her own social standards were just as strict. When the wife of a cabinet secretary invited her on an afternoon outing to the horse races, she declined. Later that evening, she encountered the woman at a social event.

“Oh, why did you not go with me to-day?” she asked, adding that many members of Congress and their wives had attended the exciting event, featuring a race between the thoroughbreds of two prominent Tennesseans. Sarah replied pleasantly that she never attended the races and didn’t wish to violate her rule.

“Well,” said the woman with a smile, “that is a reflection on me.”

“Oh, no,” replied Sarah tactfully, “not at all. You are in the habit of going. I am not.” She avoided horse races throughout her life.

Polk never allowed his social obligations to interfere with his defense of the Jackson agenda. When the Maysville Road bill arrived on the floor, with clear majority sentiment behind it, he tied it up for three days of debate. He disputed its constitutionality, since it benefited but a single state, and accused members of Congress of labeling as “national” any project that sent federal dollars to their particular districts. After the bill cleared Congress, Polk helped Jackson and his speechwriter, Amos Kendall, draft the veto message. And, when the veto was sustained, he joined his administration friends in rejoicing.

Jackson and Polk viewed such issues as reflecting a wide philosophical chasm over the very essence of American democracy. Though Clay had never embraced the concept of an entrenched aristocracy of the kind that captivated some members of the dying Federalist Party, he nonetheless believed in an office-holding class that would emerge through a system of indirect democracy and serve the country by running it. In this view, no one should be born to power; it should be earned through meritorious service. But, having earned it, national leaders should be allowed to manage affairs of state without undue interference from the masses. Leadership—and power—should come from landed interests, business and financial interests, the intellectual classes. Clay had in mind men rather like himself who possessed sufficient brilliance and understanding to know what was best for the nation. This was precisely the concept of government that Jackson despised. With Thomas Jefferson, he distrusted any elites or concentrations of power, particularly if they were insulated from the reach and passions of the broad electorate. Power corrupts, he believed, and the best protection against tyranny was to bring the masses into the process to the fullest extent possible. In this view, the people possessed a collective judgment and wisdom that would guide the nation to its destiny in a manner that would be appropriate and just. Jackson believed his own election, by repudiating the “corrupt bargain” of Adams-Clay elitism, made the point. Providence, he said, had “pronounced … that the people are virtuous and capable of self-government.”

This conflict of politics and philosophy was reflected in an issue that emerged following Clay’s return to Washington—disposition of more than a billion acres of federal lands in the West and South. Clay and his allies saw this acreage as a vast governmental revenue source that could be poured back into the nation in the form of internal improvements. Jackson and Thomas Benton, on the other hand, favored a system of graduated prices, with free grants to actual settlers who would promise to develop the land. Benton argued the country could benefit most by making these lands readily available to ordinary citizens who would raze the foliage, till the soil, build wealth through hard work, establish communities, and, in the process, expand the culture of American democracy. Elites weren’t needed, in this view, because the people themselves would build up the nation from below.

Clay employed his brilliant oratory to get his version through the Senate, but it died in the House. Still, he and his allies celebrated what they considered a notable senatorial victory, unmindful that most voters viewed their Senate triumph as added impetus for supporting Jackson over Clay in the 1832 election. With that election approaching, the Kentuckian needed a big issue to cut into Jackson’s popularity. The internal improvements issue didn’t work because most voters actually approved the Maysville Road veto. The lands issue, Clay eventually realized, was actually hurting the cause. The tariff didn’t work because the president cleverly had crafted a compromise approach designed to capture majority sentiment—bringing down the so-called Tariff of Abominations enacted in the John Quincy Adams administration while leaving in place sufficient duties to placate northern industrialists. So he would make his stand on the Second Bank of the United States.

The First Bank of the United States, chartered during the country’s early Federalist period, was the brainchild of Alexander Hamilton, who saw the bank as a means of giving the economy sufficient liquidity, maintaining currency stability, and ensuring economic efficiency. Jefferson and his Republican allies had attacked the bank as a dangerous concentration of financial power, and in 1811 the bank’s charter had been allowed to expire. However, with the outbreak of the War of 1812 it became clear the country needed a central banking authority. State banks in the Northeast, where the war was unpopular, were hoarding the country’s meager reserves of specie (gold and silver), and banks in other regions were forced to rely solely on printed money. The result was a menacing wave of inflation and considerable economic dislocation. Thus, the Second Bank of the United States, patterned on the first, was established in 1816 and set up shop in the nation’s financial center of Philadelphia. Immediately it slipped into corruption as its first president, William Jones, promiscuously violated terms of the charter, speculated in the bank’s stock, and exploited the venal practices of the bank’s branch members. Jones was forced out, and his successor sought to clean up the mess by calling in unsound loans, foreclosing on overdue mortgages, and redeeming overextended notes from state banks. The result was the Panic of 1819 as local banks slipped into bankruptcy, prices collapsed, unemployment soared, and a general economic malaise gripped the country.

Inevitably the bank became the focus of intense political passions. Not surprisingly, Jackson abhorred this concentration of economic power in what he called a “hydra-headed monster” that eastern elites inevitably would exploit for their own corrupt ends. But he wasn’t inclined to force the issue, as the bank charter was not due to expire until 1836. Clay had other ideas. Looking ahead to the 1832 election, when he fully expected to get the presidential nomination of the opposition party, he settled upon a simple political calculus: If Jackson were forced to attack the bank, he would lose Pennsylvania; if he lost Pennsylvania, he would lose the election. Clay sought to get the bank’s young president, Nicholas Biddle, to seek an immediate charter renewal from Congress.

Biddle was the picture of the educated eastern establishment of his day—dapper, smooth of manner, highly literate, widely schooled. Though he professed no interest in politics, he maintained a wide network of political friendships that practically constituted a pro-bank political faction encompassing elements of both political parties. Arrogant to a fault, he had cultivated a reputation as a man of power and influence beyond what was prudent. When addressed as “Emperor Nicholas,” he would smile approvingly, unmindful of the political hostility generated by such personal grandiosity. On January 6, 1832, Biddle complied with Clay’s request by submitting to Congress a request for renewal of the bank. What followed was an epic political struggle that would reverberate throughout the remainder of Jackson’s presidency and beyond.

Clay knew the bank enjoyed sufficient congressional support, even among Democrats, to ensure victory for the new charter. The only question was whether Jackson would veto that bill and invite a political backlash in an election year. “Should Jackson veto it,” the Kentuckian declared, “I shall veto him.” Jackson’s anti-bank forces developed a strategy best described by Thomas Benton: “attack incessantly, assail at all points, display the evil of the institution, rouse the people—and prepare them to sustain the veto.” Benton took command of the anti-bank effort in Congress, but Polk wasn’t far behind. When the recharter memorial was assigned to the Ways and Means Committee, chaired by the implacably pro-bank and anti-Jackson George McDuffie of South Carolina, Benton got Georgia’s neophyte Representative Augustin Clayton to introduce a resolution calling for an investigation of the bank’s condition and methods. When the pro-bank forces fought back, Polk led the opposition with what historian Claude Bowers called “the strongest speech of his congressional career.” He attacked the bank for requesting a recharter while opposing the kind of scrutiny needed to justify voting for it. It all raised suspicions, he said, that there was something “rotten in the state of Denmark.” The investigation was approved, in part because many pro-bank members feared their opposition would raise questions about the favorable loans and other financial beneficence bestowed upon them by bank president Biddle.

The investigations committee brought forth three reports. The majority issued allegations of wrongdoing and corruption while two minority reports exonerated the bank. There wasn’t much definitive proof in any of them, but the majority report gave Jackson the fodder he needed for his planned veto, while the pro-bank forces seized the minority tracts to bolster their anti-Jackson campaign rhetoric. In the summer of 1832 both houses of Congress approved Biddle’s bill. “I congratulate our friends most cordially upon this most satisfactory result,” wrote the egotistical banker. “Now for the President.”

The president promptly brought in Kendall and nephew Andrew Jackson Donelson to draft a veto message, then got Attorney General Roger Taney’s guidance. He sent the completed political manifesto to Congress with full awareness that it would hit political Washington—indeed the country—like a boulder thrown atop an anthill. For it turned out to be a turning point in the rise of American democracy, a quantum leap in the emergence of the mass electorate. Thenceforth, any politician desiring to lead the nation would have to go beyond expressing merely what was best for the people. He would have to speak in the name of the people.

In measured and detailed language, Jackson’s veto message portrayed the bank as a government-sponsored monopoly that employed the money of taxpayers to enhance the power, privileges, and wealth of a very few Americans and foreigners—“chiefly the richest class”— who owned stock in the bank. If government is to grant such gratuities, he said, “let them not be bestowed on the subjects of a foreign government nor upon a designated and favored class of men in our own country.” Rather, he added, such favors should be confined “to our own fellow-citizens, and let each in his turn enjoy the opportunity to profit by our bounty.” Jackson made it clear he harbored no impulse toward economic equality or societal leveling, but wished merely to ensure that the levers of government were not used to bestow special beneficence upon a well-positioned few. He explained:

Distinctions in society will always exist under every just government. Equality of talents, of education, or of wealth can not be produced by human institutions. In the full enjoyment of the gifts of Heaven and the fruits of superior industry, economy, and virtue, every man is equally entitled to protection by law; but when the laws undertake to add to these natural and just advantages artificial distinctions, to grant titles, gratuities, and exclusive privileges, to make the rich richer and the potent more powerful, the humble members of society—the farmers, mechanics, and laborers—who have neither the time nor the means of securing like favors to themselves, have a right to complain of the injustice of their Government… . If it would confine itself to equal protection, and, as Heaven does its rains, shower its favors alike on the high and the low, the rich and the poor, [government] would be an unqualified blessing.

With such language did the Old General once again outmaneuver his great rival Clay, whose political power had been accumulated through alliances with the wealthy, the influential, and the educated. Now Clay, having induced a powerful moneyed institution of the East to seek the humiliation of a beloved president, had instead fostered a new political force comprised of the mechanics of the cities, the farmers of the plains, and the pioneers of the frontier. “Clay,” wrote historian Bowers, “had unwittingly intrigued the Jacksonians into the advantage.” As Jackson himself put it to Van Buren, “The bank … is trying to kill me, but I will kill it!” Neither Clay nor Biddle understood the significance of the message. Clay called Jackson’s action “a perversion of the veto power.” Biddle, presuming incorrectly that the electorate would recoil at Jackson’s message, had thirty thousand copies distributed as a campaign document. “It has all the fury of the unchained panther,” he declared, “biting the bars of his cage.”

But in the November elections Jackson brushed aside Clay with 54 percent of the popular vote and 219 electoral ballots to Clay’s mere 49. Elated with Polk’s dedication and effectiveness on the bank issue, the energized Jackson forces promptly got him assigned to Ways and Means, the epicenter of the next big bank controversy. With four more years on his political lease, Jackson now vowed to destroy the bank by withdrawing federal funds from its vaults and depositing them in various state banks, quickly dubbed “pet banks” by his detractors. Biddle, consumed with rage, responded by constricting the money supply in an effort to induce a recession and bring the wrath of voters down upon Jackson. “The Bank feels no vocation to redress the wrongs of these miserable people,” declared Biddle. “This worthy President thinks that because he has scalped Indians and imprisoned Judges, he is to have his way with the Bank. He is mistaken.”

The second bank battle began on December 4, 1832, when Jackson’s annual message urged an investigation into the soundness of the U.S. Bank. The new Ways and Means chairman, Gulian Verplanck of New York, initiated a committee inquiry. But Jackson didn’t trust Verplanck and turned instead to Polk. On December 16 he sent his protégé information to show, as he put it, “the hydra of corruption is only scotched, not dead, and that the intent is … to destroy the vote of the people lately given at the ballot boxes.” He added: “An investigation kills it and its supporters dead. Let this be had.” He urged Polk to get the treasury secretary involved and then issued a peremptory command: “Attend to this.”

Polk dutifully complied. Throughout the subsequent investigation, which included testimony under oath by bank directors and others, Polk served as a leading administration functionary in the maneuvering, intrigue, and power politics that ensued. His job was to ensure that Verplanck’s investigation turned up plenty of dirt on the bank. In early January 1833, Treasury Secretary Roger Taney forwarded to Polk a document calling into question certain bank actions, and later he found himself frequently cajoled by Jackson’s excitable ally, Reuben Whitney, a Philadelphia businessman and former bank director. “It is of the utmost importance,” Whitney wrote Polk, “that while the investigation is undertaken, it should be as thorough as possible, and the exposures as complete… . I beg of you to see the Secy. and the President both, tomorrow morning upon the subject.” On a mission to Philadelphia, Whitney discovered that bank partisans planned delaying tactics until Congress adjourned. He also learned that pro-bank forces viewed Verplanck as their leading congressional ally and expected help also from John Gilmore of Pennsylvania, a Ways and Means member considered a Jackson loyalist. “I communicate to you these facts,” Whitney told Polk, “to show you the importance of hastening the examination, and of our taking care that Gilmore is not tampered with.” He added, “I beg of you to guard against the secret machinations of our adversaries.”

Throughout these weeks Polk worked behind the scenes. But in March, Verplanck issued a Ways and Means report declaring the bank to be financially sound. The House promptly accepted Verplanck’s interpretation. Polk issued a Ways and Means minority report, centering his critique on the “three percents”—securities bearing 3 percent interest that had been issued by the government some forty years before. When the government in March 1832 sought to pay off $6.5 million of these, Biddle sought a delay, citing routine timing reasons. But then the bank frantically and secretly sought to unload some of its own debt on unfavorable terms—apparently to make good on the three percents. The Verplanck report had criticized these questionable maneuverings but raised no connection between them and the bank’s fiscal health.

That was too much for Polk. He rose on the House floor to deliver a scathing speech drawing a direct link. Practically the entire Jackson cabinet traveled to the Capitol to hear his rhetoric, along with that of Thomas Benton, who on the same day excoriated Clay on the Senate floor. Polk accused Biddle of dissembling on the 3 percent matter and suggested the bank had needed the delay to shroud its own financial woes. All of Polk’s fundamental political traits emerged in the speech—his exhaustive study of the issues, his capacity for clearheaded argumentation, his demeanor of dignity mixed with an instinct for partisan pugilism. “When the President of the Bank not only induces the board to act for reasons unknown to themselves,” said Polk, “but conceals even from the committees acts done in their names, something stronger than doubt almost seizes on the mind.” He added that given the actions of Biddle and his bank, “there is just ground to doubt whether there be soundness in the institution, or proper precaution and responsibility in its management.”

Polk also argued that the president alone had jurisdiction over questions of whether the bank had violated its charter or been guilty of mismanagement. Congressional action on the matter, he declared, was “unauthorized and improper.” Jackson quickly incorporated many of Polk’s arguments into his bank speeches.

Biddle was outraged. He personally sought to get Polk defeated at his next election in August by funneling bank money to the anti-Polk newspaper in Nashville, while other bank proponents joined in the assault. Polk’s friend Andrew Donelson wrote to say his supporters “are well apprised of the instruments which are employed to defeat you.” And Polk himself described his race as “an angry and most violent contest. I am assailed from all quarters.” But he won easily with 70 percent of the vote—just as the next and final battle in the long bank struggle was about to begin.

On August 31, 1833, Jackson wrote Polk saying he had managed to get a “small peep” at the bank’s financial records and thus discovered that Biddle had funneled $80,000 into political activity aimed at getting his recharter. “Can anyone really say, from this expose that the U.S. Bank is a safe deposit for the peoples mony?” he asked, adding Polk could use the information as he wished so long as he kept the president’s name out of it. Already Jackson was clearing the way for his next bold move—withdrawal of federal funds from the bank. He wanted Polk to be fortified for that battle and also for the next assignment Jackson had in mind for him—Ways and Means chairman. Not only did the Jackson men install Polk as head of the committee when Congress convened in December but also assigned to the panel enough Jackson loyalists to ensure its fealty. At the same time, Jackson sent to Congress two powerful documents—a presidential message outlining his decision to remove federal deposits from the bank; and a report from Treasury Secretary Taney defending the action.

An intense parliamentary battle ensued over which committee would get the assignment—Polk’s pro-Jackson Ways and Means or the Committee of the Whole House, which could open up endless debate on the matter. Through some deft legislative maneuvering Polk outflanked the relentlessly anti-Jackson George McDuffie, but when McDuffie counterattacked the chairman faltered. He missed a chance to call for the “previous question,” which would have ended floor debate and assigned the matter to his committee. Thus, the debate raged on for another two months. But throughout the subsequent floor debate, Polk thoroughly dominated the chamber, eventually getting full jurisdiction for his committee. In the meantime, on February 11, 1834, the panel had issued a report scoring the bank for its handling of certain pension matters. “The committee cannot condemn, in terms too strong, the conduct of the bank in this transaction,” stated the report. A month later the committee issued a broader report upholding all of Jackson’s actions related to the bank. And on April 22, Polk reported out a bill to regulate state deposit banks, thus authorizing the president’s action. The full House passed the measure on June 24.

The Senate refused to go along and, in fact, under Clay’s leadership, assaulted the president with a resolution censuring his bank actions. But Polk had emerged as something of a national figure for his brilliant legislative success in the House. The Daily Globe of Washington, the country’s leading Democratic newspaper, called one of his floor speeches “perfectly irresistible” in fact and reasoning. Speaking in Tennessee, Jackson praised the chairman’s performance and added, “Polk for the hard service done in the cause deserves a Medal from the American people.” So pleased was the president that when Stevenson resigned as House speaker in June 1834 Jackson favored Polk for the job. But it went to fellow Tennessean John Bell, who had been emerging as a rival to Polk and a critic of Jackson. Bell promptly leveraged his new position to gain control over the Nashville newspapers and to establish a Democratic alternative to Jacksonism in Tennessee. It began to appear that Jackson could lose his longtime dominance over Tennessee politics.

The following year, when the new Congress convened in December, Polk marshaled his political resources and ousted Bell from the speakership, getting 132 votes to Bell’s 84. Now he held a constitutional office and considerable sway over national politics. It was a triumph for Jackson as well. Thomas Benton called it “a test of the administration strength, Mr. Polk being supported by that party.” Sarah believed her husband’s new position, if held by the right kind of leader, could rival the presidency in power and influence. She had no doubt the new speaker would be the right kind of leader. The new position also required that the couple secure larger living quarters away from the common-mess boardinghouses. Political protocol dictated that the speaker shouldn’t dine regularly with other members.

“The principal reason for this,” James explained to Sarah, “is that awkward positions might ensue when the affairs and measures of Congress are discussed at meals.”

“As would inevitably happen,” she replied with a smile, “and if you were there they couldn’t openly criticize the Speaker, could they?”

“Hardly,” said James in an affectionate retort, “neither do I want to be subject to a charge of overintimacy by a small group of congressmen to continue to share a house with them.”

But Polk’s election as speaker widened Tennessee’s Democratic Party split, which now threatened to go national. In 1836, Bell persuaded Tennessee’s Senator Hugh Lawson White to run for president against Jackson’s chosen successor, Vice President Martin Van Buren. Jackson may have overreached by forcing Van Buren on the party. A brilliant lawyer, the New Yorker had a reputation for letting his famous cleverness and zest for intrigue supersede his statesmanship and intellectualism. In fact he possessed both intellectual depth and an unerring instinct for assessing political events. But his smooth demeanor, persistent drollery, and courtly manner generated suspicion among some, particularly southerners, and his political wiles earned for him the nickname “the Magician.” From the beginning Jackson could see the full measure of the man and came to revere his manifold talents. But not all of the president’s followers were so inclined. Hence an intraparty challenge was probably inevitable.

Few would have predicted it would come from White, a loyal Jackson ally for years. In temperament and political approach he was the anti-Jackson. Tall, well proportioned, with kindly blue eyes and long flowing hair, he both looked and acted the part of the dignified senatorial statesman. Often viewed as a throwback to the glory days of Rome, he spoke softly, without fire or eloquence but with a clarity and common sense that elevated him above his peers. In the Senate he commanded respect, and in Tennessee he was beloved. Jackson, enraged to see this old friend trying to thwart his plans, fostered a steady attack on the senator by the Globe and other Democratic organs. It was a mistake. The attacks caused White’s popularity to soar among protective Tennesseans.

When the votes were counted in November, Van Buren won easily, carrying fifteen states with 170 electoral votes. It was clear Jackson’s populist convictions still held sway over the new Whig Party that Clay had forged in 1834 upon the foundation of his American System. For Clay, it was the final blow from his old rival. He vowed to escape Washington as soon as possible. “Jackson played the tyrant to the last,” he complained, adding he now felt little enthusiasm for the trials of the Senate. “I shall escape from it as soon as I decently can,” he declared, “with the same pleasure that one would fly from a charnel-house.”

But the Jackson–Van Buren victory brought with it a troubling development. Tennessee shunned Van Buren and gave its electoral votes to White, who also carried Georgia. Worse, White’s Tennessee supporters, combined with the state’s new Whig contingent, now formed the foundation of a strong Whig Party in Tennessee, capable of commanding close to half the electorate. Jackson’s dominance over the state was now lost.

Soon he lost his dominance over the nation as well. Within nine weeks of Van Buren’s inauguration, economic collapse swept the country. It began when New York banks suspended specie payments, causing widespread alarm and setting in motion a deflationary spiral as credit dried up, loans were called in, and prices plunged. The Panic of 1837 ushered in “a cycle of recession, recovery, and depression” that would dominate American politics for the next seven years. Suddenly the Democratic ethos lost much of its luster, and Van Buren lost much of his popularity. With people in financial anguish, they wanted action at the national level—the kind of action that Clay and his allies had been advocating for years. Van Buren, clinging to his Jacksonian heritage, seemed out of touch with the needs of his constituents.

The political focus centered on the Specie Circular, Jackson’s departing executive order that had been designed to curb a dangerous inflationary wave sweeping the country in the wake of wild land speculations in the West. Prices had skyrocketed across the board, leading Jackson to require future purchases of government property to be transacted in gold or silver. But now, with prices plummeting and liquidity scarce, the call went up to rescind the Specie Circular. Neither Jackson, Van Buren, nor Polk would hear of it. The result was that Democrats found themselves utterly on the defensive. Polk, true to his political convictions and his sense of loyalty, remained a stalwart floor leader for Van Buren’s agenda, but the tide had turned against his party. Worse, the fissures in Tennessee politics had taken on the appearance of a blood feud. Two fervent politicians—Tennessee’s bellicose Balie Peyton and Virginia’s fiery Henry Wise—let it be known they planned to insult Polk incessantly and draw him into a duel with Wise, known as a “dead shot” with a pistol. They showered Polk with invective, calling him, among other things, “a cancer on the body politic,” “a petty tyrant,” and “as destitute of private honor as he was of private virtue.” The disciplined Polk refused to respond, proving that in this one respect he didn’t aspire to be like his great mentor. Eventually, the storm passed, but the spectacle would linger in people’s minds for years.

In summer 1838, Polk announced his intention to leave the House and run for Tennessee governor the next year. It wasn’t the career path he desired, but Tennessee Democrats had implored him to return home and oust the Whig governor, Newton Cannon, elected in 1835 and reelected handily two years later. Only Polk could restore Democratic hegemony, they argued. Besides, with the Democrats’ House dominance also threatened by economic travail, it wasn’t clear Polk could hold on to the speakership. Upon his departure from the House after fourteen years, his adversaries contrived one last humiliation. When a routine resolution was brought up thanking him for his service, some Whigs quibbled with the wording, and fifty-seven members actually voted against the customary measure. Ignoring the slight, Polk responded with dignity, adroitly characterizing the vote, because of the opposition, as more than a mere formality and hence “the highest and most valued testimony I have ever received from this House.”

Polk brought to the gubernatorial campaign his characteristic analytical acumen, attention to detail, and debating skill. He honed a campaign style that included repartee and ridicule in sufficient abundance that the stolid Cannon soon announced the duties of his office precluded further joint appearances. When the votes were counted, Polk had a narrow victory margin of 2,616 ballots out of more than 105,000 cast. Democrats rejoiced at the outcome.

Monday, October 14, 1839, in Nashville was a day of raucous political celebration mixed with a certain religious solemnity. Amid two church conventions that drew hundreds of Baptists and Methodists from around the region, the city also that day witnessed the inauguration of its new governor. To top it off, Nashville’s fall horse races had drawn a contingent of “genteel horse fanciers and rakish gamblers.” It seemed to some that just about every Democrat from the state had made it to Nashville for the political festivities, some to celebrate the return of their party to the statehouse but many to seek patronage jobs in the new administration of James Polk. At eleven o’clock, the state’s legislators formed up at the courthouse and began a procession to the Presbyterian Church, site of the inaugural ceremonies. There the Baptists and Methodists already had congregated, along with the man whose presence drew the eyes of everyone on the scene—Andrew Jackson, looking a bit infirm but proud as he strolled through the throng, directing courtly nods here and there and pronouncing himself to be “mighty happy” with his party’s political restoration. When it came time for the new governor to speak, Polk stepped forward to proclaim his resolve to regulate state banks, bolster education, foster internal improvements with state funds, and align corporate power with the interests of ordinary citizens.

That day turned out to be the high point of his political career for a considerable time. As governor, Polk confronted the same economic blight that buffeted Van Buren and eventually forced him out of the presidency in the 1840 elections. That economic environment also rendered a successful governorship impossible. Polk’s adversity was compounded by the nature of his opponent when he sought reelection in 1841. This was James C. Jones, a thirty-year-old freshman legislator from the outlands of Wilson County. Tall, thin, ungainly, with an audacious wit and a lighthearted air, he went by the name of Lean Jimmy, and in the legislature he had emerged as the governor’s most nettlesome political pest. Now the Whigs turned to him to disorient Polk and blunt his campaign repartee. Lean Jimmy did it with aplomb. Lacking Polk’s conventional debating skills and expansive knowledge of the issues, he brought to the campaign “ridicule, sarcasm, wit, buffoonery, and a deluge of epithets.” When Polk, struggling to puncture this irrepressible jester, suggested Lean Jimmy’s style was less suited to a gubernatorial campaign than to a circus, the challenger retorted that they both belonged in the circus—himself as the clown and Polk “as the little fellow that is dressed up in a red cap and jacket and who rides around on a poney.” Their joint appearances generated huge crowds, and Polk could see many of those in attendance had come specifically to see Jimmy.

Whether it was the depression or Lean Jimmy or Polk’s continued devotion to the discredited Van Buren, the governor lost his reelection bid by 3,243 votes out of 103,000 cast. Never before had Polk experienced such a defeat. Throughout his career he had been buoyed by the Jacksonian wave, that great political force that had dominated Tennessee and the nation for nearly two decades. This potent wave had shaped him and guided him through countless political struggles during a particularly intense time of civic combat. It had incubated his congressional career and sustained it through seven terms in the House. It had propelled him to positions of influence in that chamber, then to its highest station. It had swept him into his state’s premier political office. And throughout his adulthood it had instilled in his consciousness a sense that his career was moving always in tandem with history. Now it had failed him.

But not for long, he vowed. He would return to the fray two years hence, oust Lean Jimmy from the governor’s chair, and restore his self-identity as a man of destiny. The rematch proved unavailing. Jones outpolled him by 3,833 votes out of some 110,000 cast—hardly a change from the previous tabulation. Now he was a two-time loser in his own state. At forty-seven, he knew he looked washed up, and it wasn’t clear what he could do to restore his political standing. Stung and depressed, he lingered in Columbia pondering his fate.



3 • THE 1844 ELECTION


Searching for a Means of Political Recovery

FOR JAMES POLK, the 1844 presidential campaign began on August 14, 1843, precisely two weeks after his second gubernatorial humiliation. On that day he ordered the family buggy hitched up for the forty-five-mile ride north to Nashville, where he planned to assess his political circumstances and craft a strategy to rekindle his career. For two weeks he had sat in his comfortable but modest home on a wide, tree-lined avenue in Columbia, contemplating the wreckage of his political standing. One biographer later would conjure up a picture of the former governor sitting in retreat, saying little, stirring little, just thinking—as Sarah sat nearby sewing or knitting with Presbyterian devotion.

Neither was given to deep introspection; neither had much tolerance for expressions of self-pity or even words of sympathy if offered with any degree of effusiveness. But they shared a deep devotion to the husband’s career. For James, political success was the only kind worth striving for. He was a man of conviction, driven by ideology, and passionate in his love of the political game. If he wasn’t devoting his life to his vision for America nothing else mattered.

For Sarah, her steely dedication to her husband’s political success may have emerged in part from her childless marriage. Without children to occupy her daily existence, she found her greatest enjoyment in serving as political counselor to her ambitious husband and mixing in the company of the nation’s most powerful men. She thrived in this environment and derived pleasure in her success. She was proud of her Washington reputation as an independent-minded woman, reflected in one instance when she resisted her husband’s anti-banking convictions and his consequent aversion to paper money. “Mr. Polk,” she said to him jocularly in the company of some of his political allies, “you and your friends certainly are mistaken about the bank question. Why if we must use gold and silver all the time, a lady can scarcely carry enough money with her.” On another occasion, when he extolled the steamboat as having outdated all other means of transportation, she demonstrated a clearer vision of the future. “What about the steam-car?” she asked. Clearly she possessed special attributes as a political helpmate.

And so it was probably inevitable that this marital partnership—the introverted, driven politician and his only true confidante—would quietly reach a mutual resolve to shake off the despondency of defeat and revive the White House dream. The eclipsed politician set his consciousness on two immediate goals—rising from the ashes of his career by capturing his party’s vice presidential nomination and reclaiming control over Tennessee politics from his rivals. He had plenty of time to contemplate both during his four-hour ride to Nashville.

Any serious analysis would begin with the national party. It was widely assumed the Democrats’ presidential nomination would go to Van Buren, who hankered to challenge Whig president John Tyler, vice president under William Henry Harrison and president since Harrison’s death in 1841. Many Democrats chafed at the thought of Van Buren at the head of their ticket in 1844. New political and economic developments were driving a wedge through the party. True, the fires of passion surrounding the national bank issue were now mere embers of political sentiment. Most Americans accepted the death of the Bank of the United States and appreciated the growing paper money state banks now operating under various regulatory safeguards. But this emerging consensus unleashed its own divisiveness. As many Democrats retreated from the ideological commitment to hard money, the hard money men dug in to defend the old orthodoxy. The new entrepreneurial “conservatives” had seen how Van Buren’s rigid adherence to the hard money doctrine had squelched needed liquidity and thus lengthened the economic depression. With recovery now in serious prospect, they feared a second Van Buren administration would further restrict liquidity and kill the recovery. For their part, the Van Buren partisans viewed these conservatives as party traitors whose disloyalty had cost their man his reelection in 1840. They vowed to purge the party of these perfidious rebels and redeem the Magician’s national standing through a glorious 1844 victory.

Van Buren faced opposition also from southern Democrats under the considerable sway of that irrepressible orator, John C. Calhoun. With his penetrating yellow-brown eyes set into deep sockets, his raven black hair, chiseled face, and captivating fluency of speech, the South Carolinian loomed large over American politics. He was one of the most brilliant politicians of his era and one of the most erratic; one of its most mesmerizing figures and one of its most polarizing; a man who could give expression to hallowed causes with unmatched eloquence and then alter his causes with apparent ease. He was much enamored of his own manifest talents. John Tyler called him “the great ‘I am,’” and one devoted follower observed: “He liked very much to talk of himself, and he always had the good fortune to make the subject exceedingly interesting.”

Calhoun wanted to be president, and his desire for the office took on added intensity through his hatred of Van Buren. The two had been rivals since their days together in the Jackson administration. Aside from the tariff issue, which had set southerners against their northern brethren for decades, there was also the lingering slavery issue. As the country’s premier defender of the South’s slave culture, Calhoun had developed a fervent distrust of the New Yorker. With abolitionism gaining force in the North, many southerners feared that even states’-rights northerners eventually would abandon the South. As one Richmond editor warned, “Vote for a Northern President from a free state, and when the test comes he will support the abolitionists.” So Calhoun now had his sights focused on his party’s nomination. Barring that, he would settle for destroying Van Buren.

Among the other contenders circling the nomination, two stood out. One was Richard M. Johnson of Kentucky, former vice president during Van Buren’s presidential term, whose national reputation had begun with news that he had personally killed the famous Shawnee Indian leader Tecumseh at the battle of the Thames in 1813. It was never established definitively that he had done so, but Old Dick, as Johnson was often called, had been dining out on reports of it throughout his life—traveling across the land; visiting churches, schools, and town meetings; insisting he had no wish to dredge up once again the famous story and then regaling audiences with every detail, as well as a furtive display of the mutilated finger he had acquired in the battle. He was a man of no fixed opinions—“the damndest political whore in the country,” as Thomas Hart Benton described him. Johnson let it be known that, while he aspired to the presidential nomination, he would just as avidly accept the ticket’s second spot.

To the anti–Van Buren forces looking for an entrepreneurial conservative to supplant the rigidly hard-money Van Buren, Old Dick didn’t measure up. They favored Lewis Cass of Michigan, a rich and erudite frontier empire builder with a wide girth, weary eyes, and demeanor that suggested he was not to be trifled with. Barely past sixty, he had a long history of service to his country—as Ohio legislator, Indian fighter, army general against the British, governor of Michigan Territory, secretary of war, and minister to France. Yet, throughout that protracted career, he had somehow managed to avoid being identified with one side or the other in any of the truly contentious issues of his day.

The political calculus facing Polk as he headed north was simple: Van Buren, despite the pockets of opposition and the determined rivals, would be the nominee, and Polk’s chance of being the running mate depended entirely on his ability to unite Tennessee Democrats behind the New Yorker. It wouldn’t be easy. Many Tennessee Democrats disliked Van Buren, and some didn’t care much for Polk either. The challenge loomed before him most starkly in the person of Alfred O. P. Nicholson, a tall, oblong-faced lawyer with a knack for powerful eloquence and an endless capacity for political mischief. He had proved troublesome to the party establishment since the day he emerged on the scene and promptly began promoting Hugh Lawson White over Van Buren for the 1836 presidential nomination. “A hypocritical friend in disguise”—that’s how Polk described Nicholson. As governor, Polk had once given the man an interim appointment to the U.S. Senate—and later regretted this “capital error of my political life.” It was clear to Polk that Nicholson wanted to replace him as the state’s party leader.

His method of doing so was clever in the extreme. Shortly after Polk’s second gubernatorial defeat, Nicholson publicly blamed Van Buren’s unpopularity for the unfortunate outcome and endorsed Cass as a stronger presidential candidate for the Democrats. The state’s pro-Polk newspapers naively echoed this assessment, and soon the Cass boomlet was in full cry. The irrepressible Nicholson had set in motion a chain of events designed to destroy Polk’s career, and he had done so under the guise of professing friendship for the man. Polk wasn’t fooled, but he couldn’t be sure about Van Buren. The New Yorker would be forced to conclude Polk either wished to do him in or else had lost control of his own state party. Either way, it wasn’t much of a recommendation.

Arriving in Nashville, Polk promptly turned to the political tasks at hand—galvanizing his troops; organizing letter-writing campaigns to get his name into the party consciousness; reaching out to Van Buren. He would rely primarily on three loyal associates. One was Cave Johnson, then serving his seventh term in the U.S. House. The tireless and unassuming Johnson could be counted on to be precisely where needed to serve Polk’s interests at any given time. His constancy was unquestioned. As a young man in 1815 he courted a woman named Elizabeth Dortch, who rejected him for another. He vowed never to marry and didn’t—until Elizabeth was widowed some twenty years later and he courted her again, this time successfully. Johnson’s devotion to the politics of Andrew Jackson stirred Quincy Adams to label him “the nuisance of the House.”

Then there was Aaron V. Brown, son of a Virginia preacher, who had practiced law with Polk in their early manhood and who had developed a deep friendship with Sarah as well as with James. More ambitious than Johnson, he also was more demanding. His availability for service emerged largely “when tangible rewards were in view,” as one Polk biographer put it. As a Tennessee congressman, he was showing signs of sympathy toward the southern Democrats then angling to thwart Van Buren. And finally there was Samuel H. Laughlin, a generous-spirited and highly literate writer and political organizer whose intermittent weakness for spirituous liquors rendered him often in need of cash—and hence available for whatever tasks Polk placed before him. His affection for his ambitious friend was requited with a high degree of regard and friendship from the normally aloof Polk.

Having assigned various political tasks, Polk returned to Columbia and sought to assure Van Buren that Tennessee remained a Democratic state despite his own unfortunate defeats. This was crucial. Polk had value as a potential vice presidential candidate only if Tennessee remained in play. If the state had been captured by Whiggery, as many suspected, then Polk was essentially worthless to Van Buren. In a letter to the New Yorker, Polk assured him Tennessee would rise above the local causes that had upended his own candidacy and would give full support to Van Buren. Andrew Jackson added his own assurance—particularly, he noted, if Polk were on the ticket.

In early October Polk returned to Nashville and spent a week seeking to solidify his standing among state Democrats through cajolery, entreaty, and old-fashioned political horse-trading. Polk and his top lieutenants also crafted their strategy for the Tennessee Democratic convention, set for November 23 at Nashville. It had three elements: control the selection of Tennessee delegates to the national convention at Baltimore; instruct the delegates to support Polk for vice president; and keep the delegation neutral on the presidential outcome while pledging support for the eventual nominee. This was risky. Van Buren might view it as an effort by Polk and his allies to thwart his presidential ambition. But Polk concluded he could manage that more easily than the two risks inherent in a Van Buren endorsement. First, with Tennessee delegates so intensely divided on the presidential succession, an effort to force the issue could split the party and destroy Polk’s ability to dominate events. Secondly, as soon as Van Buren had Tennessee’s delegates safely secured, he no longer had any incentive to deal with Polk.
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